
MINUTES
SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE

DATE: Monday, February 10, 2025
TIME: 1:30 P.M.
PLACE: Room WW54
MEMBERS
PRESENT:

Chairman Lakey, Vice Chairman Shippy, Senators Ricks, Foreman, Lent,
Lenney, Keyser, Wintrow, and Ruchti

ABSENT/
EXCUSED:

None

NOTE: The sign-in sheet, testimonies and other related materials will be retained with
the minutes in the committee's office until the end of the session and will then
be located on file with the minutes in the Legislative Services Library.

CONVENED: Chairman Lakey called the meeting of the Senate Judiciary and Rules
Committee (Committee) to order at 1:30 p.m.

MINUTES
APPROVAL:

Senator Foreman moved to approve the Minutes of January 27, 2025.
Senator Shippy seconded the motion. The motion carried by voice vote.

GUBERNATORIAL
APPOINTMENT
VOTE:

Senator Wintrow moved to send the Gubernatorial Appointment of
Colonel William Gardiner as Director of the Idaho State Police to serve
a term commencing August 19, 2024, with the recommendation that he be
confirmed by the Senate. Senator Foreman seconded the motion. The motion
carried by voice vote.

RS 32136 Senator Bernt stated RS 32136 was a mandatory minimum driving under the
influence vehicular manslaughter bill. There were some changes made from
last year.

MOTION: Senator Foreman moved to send RS 32136 to print. Senator Keyser
seconded the motion. The motion carried by voice vote.

RS 32243 Senator Wintrow explained she and some of her colleagues had heard
concerns about the coroner's system statewide. A group of coroners spent time
last summer discussing those concerns and how to correct them. RS 32243
aimed to standardize the powers and duties, the deaths to be reported, clarify
educational standards and add definitions for the coroner system.

MOTION: Senator Lent moved to send RS 32243 to print. Senator Foreman seconded
the motion. The motion carried by voice vote.

RS 32260 Senator Guthrie stated this bill asked to have information relating to motorcycle
profiling added to the law enforcement agencies handbook and distributed to
all law enforcement officers. The same information was incorporated in Police
Officers Standards and Training (POST) enabling officers to be aware that such
profiling was outside of the scope of the law.

MOTION: Senator Foreman moved to send RS 32260 to print. Senator Ruchti
seconded the motion. The motion carried by voice vote.



H 7 UNIFORM CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES - Amends existing law to
provide a penalty for possession of less than three ounces of marijuana.
Representative Skaug gave a short background on H 7. He stated the Idaho
Chiefs of Police Association, the Sheriff's Association, and the Fraternal
Order of Police all supported this bill. Idaho and three other states have
strict regulations on all marijuana use. There were four medicinal pills given
by prescription that contain marijuana. When marijuana usage began, the
amount of marijuana it took to be an impaired driver or worker was much
higher than the amount now. Representative Skaug explained the numerous
negative impacts from marijuana usage. He said the minimum fine of $300 was
determined after much negotiation. The hope was that the $300 fine would
serve as a deterrent to drug usage.

TESTIMONY: Chief Rex Ingram, President of the Idaho Chiefs of Police Association,
supported H 7. Chief Ingram worked in California and saw the consequences
of ineffective policies surrounding marijuana possession and other drug related
offenses. He saw a minimum mandatory fine as more than a deterrent, but also
a sign that Idaho did not allow a culture of disregard for the law. The mandatory
fine of $300 established that offenders were not without consequences.
Sara Winslow stated she had heard a lot of confusion about stalking,
strangulation and aggravated battery having no mandatory minimums and the
comparison to a small amount of marijuana receiving a $300 fine. She reminded
the Committee that a $300 fine was much different than a jail sentence.
Joseph Evans, Officer, Kind Idaho, testified against H 7. Mr. Evans stated
$300 represented an undue burden. He estimated direct and opportunity costs
involved and arrived at somewhere between $5,000 - $6,000. He added this
mandatory minimum affected people who were not able to pay for basic needs.
Mr. Evans said his preference was to give the judges the discretion to fine
as they examined the circumstances.
Fred Birnbaum, from the Idaho Freedom Foundation, testified in support of H
7. Mr. Birnbaum explained a program used in Oregon and evidence proved
it failed. Their program included decriminalization and drug treatment. Drug
overdoses were up 75%, violent crime was up 17%, drug use, community
disorder and homelessness were rampant. Mr. Birnbaum said Idaho did not
want to go down the same path.

DISCUSSION: Senator Shippy asked why the treatment programs did not work in Oregon.
Mr. Birnbaum stated a lot of highly addictive drugs were decriminalized at the
same time. That population interpreted the lack of consequences as being told
it was not a crime to use drugs. The incentive was not enough to deter the
drug purchases. Mr. Birnbaum added the $300 minimum may not be enough
incentive to decrease the drug usage, but the signal was that Idaho policies
were not going in the direction of failed policies.

WRITTEN
TESTIMONIES:

Written testimony submitted online appears in Attachment 1.

TESTIMONIES: Tony Oxsen, Nampa, Idaho, testified in support of the legislation. He supported
the $300 mandatory minimum and reminded the Committee this was a base
and fines could be higher. He stated judges could still use their discretion.
Sheriff Matt Clifford, Idaho Sheriffs Association, expressed support for H 7.
Sheriff Clifford said they supported this bill partially because surrounding
states legalized marijuana in some way. It was important for Idaho to keep
taking a strong position that it was hard on illegal drug issues. The $300
mandatory minimum reminded people from Idaho and other states that if they
purchased marijuana in Idaho, there were serious repercussions for doing so.

SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE
Monday, February 10, 2025—Minutes—Page 2



Daniel Murphy, Boise, Idaho, strongly supported this legislation. Mr. Murphy
had much empathy for people who used medical marijuana for chronic pain, but
did not believe the answer was to legalize marijuana. He stated just because
Idaho's neighbors legalized marijuana, did not mean Idaho should.
Thad Butterworth, Republican Central Committee, strongly supported this
legislation. Mr. Butterworth said his organization wanted to do everything they
could to strengthen the laws and the deterrents for people to not use marijuana.
Grace Howitt, Policy Analyst, Idaho Family Policy Center, supported H 7. She
cited both Colorado and Oregon experienced an increase in property crime
and violent crime after they legalized marijuana use. Ms. Howitt stated she
believed a mandatory minimum fine for personal marijuana use would deter its
use and show how seriously Idaho took the issue.
Alex Joye Grenier, Star, Idaho, supported H 7. Mr. Grenier referenced states
who had legalized marijuana use and the negative results from that decision.
He stated Idaho was a safe place and asked the Committee to protect the
Idaho communities.
Christian Braun, Boise, Idaho, testified in favor of H 7. Mr. Braun explained
he had served as a police officer, a practicing Idaho attorney and a public
school teacher in Washington. As was mentioned, marijuana was much
stronger than it was 30 years ago. Marijuana use had proven to be the gateway
drug it was never supposed to be. He witnessed children being sold for sex to
provide money for their parent's drug habits. Mr. Braun stated he received a
master's degree in teaching and began teaching on a small Indian reservation
where drugs were easily accessible. He witnessed active cartels, students
participating in gangs, and students who overdosed and were removed from
school. The area was very poor and yet the students would find a way to get
the drugs they wanted. Mr. Braun added this legislation provided a way to
protect children.

MOTION: Senator Ricks moved to send H 7 to the floor with a do pass recommendation.
Senator Foreman seconded the motion.

DISCUSSION: Senator Foreman stated he was not unsympathetic to those who use marijuana
to relieve pain. He added he was a retired police officer and had seen many
negative effects from marijuana use. He wanted to keep it out of Idaho in any
way possible. He said passing the legislation was a step in the right direction.
Senator Ruchti explained he was not going to vote in support of H 7 because
it tied the judge's hands. They were the ones in the best place to make the
determinations. He was also concerned because law enforcement sponsored
the bill and he did not feel that was their place.
Senator Shippy said he supported H 7. He had seen the spread of crime
come into Idaho from Oregon and saw the need for strengthening the laws
surrounding the issues. He wanted to make sure drugs did not have a place
in Idaho.
Senator Wintrow said she would be voting against H 7. Senator Wintrow
agreed that the fine was not a deterrent but a punishment. She added this
legislation was not about legalizing marijuana or about medical marijuana. It
was about punishment.

SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE
Monday, February 10, 2025—Minutes—Page 3



Senator Lakey explained he would be voting for H 7. He stated the judges had
discretion in the majority of things, but the Legislature also had the discretion
to establish policy in the form of mandatory minimums. Senator Lakey said
he believed the mandatory minimum would be a deterrent and would send a
message that Idaho would not tolerate drugs. He added that he appreciated
law enforcement's involvement in this legislation.
The motion carried by voice vote. Senators Ruchti andWintrow asked to be
recorded as voting nay.

ADJOURNED: There being no further business to come before the Committee, Chairman
Lakey adjourned the meeting at 3:05 p.m.

___________________________ ___________________________
Senator Lakey Sharon Pennington
Chair Secretary

SENATE JUDICIARY & RULES COMMITTEE
Monday, February 10, 2025—Minutes—Page 4


